A. INTRODUCTION 

The State argued that two of Maurice Henry Pollock's acts 

constituted second degree assault. However, the State failed to present 

sufficient evidence to prove one of these acts. The jury's verdict did not 

indicate on which act it relied. Pollock's conviction must accordingly be 

reversed and this case dismissed, as any retrial would subject, or potentially 

subject, Pollock to double jeopardy. 

Alternatively, Pollock asks this court to reverse because 

Washington's mandatory reasonable doubt instruction tells jurors that having 

a reasonable doubt is not enough; jurors must also be able to explain or 

articulate a reason. The instruction strikingly resembles the fill-in-the-blank 

arguments that Washington courts have rejected as prosecutorial misconduct, 

as they impermissibly and subtly shift the burden of proof to defendants. 

Washington's reasonable doubt instruction is constitutionally infirm. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. There was insufficient evidence to support one of the acts the 

State argued was assault in the second degree. 

2. The reasonable doubt instruction given by the trial court 

required jurors to have more than a reasonable doubt to acquit and shifted the 

burden to Pollock to provide jurors with a reason for acquittal. This 

reasonable doubt instruction is therefore constitutionally defective. 
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Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

la. Did the State fail to provide sufficient evidence of one of 

the acts it argued was second degree assault-namely Pollock charging 

with a shotgun? 

1 b. When one of the acts in a multiple acts case was not 

supported by sufficient evidence, and the court is unable to determine on 

which act the jury relied, must this court reverse the conviction and 

remand for dismissal to avoid violating the double jeopardy clauses of the 

United States and Washington constitutions? 

2a. Did the reasonable doubt instruction stating a "reasonable 

doubt is one for which a reason exists" tell jurors that they must have more 

than just a reasonable doubt to acquit? 

2b. Did the reasonable doubt instruction impermissibly shift 

the burden of proof by telling jurors they must be able to articulate a 

reason to have a reasonable doubt? 

c. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 19, 2010, Pollock received a call from his friend 

Brandon Wolfe, who lived at the Sunset Vista Apartments in Renton. 5RP' 

11-13, 77. Wolfe told Pollock that he had just been threatened by Nigel 

1 This brief refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: I RP-September 9, 
2013; 2RP- September 10 and 11,2013; 3RP-September 12,2013; 4RP-September 
16, 2013; 5RP-September 17, 2013; 6RP-September 18 and 19, 2013; 7RP
September 20 and November 8 and 22, 2013. 
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Greer and his associate, who were displeased by Wolfe's sale of marijuana at 

the apartment complex. 5RP 38, 67, 78-80,82-83, 169-70. Wolfe requested 

protection in the form of firearms. 5RP 84, 171-72. 

Pollock responded by bringing Wolfe firearms. 5RP 14, 16, 89, 130, 

173. Pollock explained to Wolfe and his family how to safely use firearms. 

5RP 89-90, 173. 

Pollock also decided to confront Greer, who lived two apartments 

down the breezeway from Wolfe. 5RP 16,90,133-34,173-74. Along with 

Wolfe, Pollock knocked on Greer's door and identified himself as "Police." 

3RP 65; 5RP 17, 91, 174, 211. Pollock also yelled through the door that 

Greer should leave Wolfe and his family alone. 3RP 66; 5RP 17,49-50, 52, 

91. No one came to the door immediately, so Pollock and Wolfe headed 

back towards Wolfe's apartment. 5RP 18,91. As they approached Wolfe's 

apartment, Greer came outside, upset. 5RP 18,91-92. 

The testimony conflicted as to what occurred thereafter. 

Pollock testified that Greer had his hand on a gun tucked into his 

waist. 5RP 18. Pollock indicated he just wanted to talk and asked Greer not 

to pull a gun on him. 5RP 18,53-54. At that point, Greer jumped back with 

a gun and Pollock pulled the blanket off a shotgun. 5RP 18. Pollock also 

acknowledged he had told police that he charged at Greer with a shotgun 
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aimed, but he described aimed simply as meaning readied. 5RP 18, 53. 

Pollock stated he never pointed a gun at Greer. 5RP 18,52-53. 

Pollock again asked Greer to leave Wolfe and his family alone. 5RP 

19, 52-53. Pollock and Wolfe then entered Wolfe's apartment and locked 

the door. 5RP 19,94. 

Pollock invited Wolfe and his family to come to Pollock's house, and 

Wolfe, his girlfriend Misty Waggoner, and Waggoner's two children 

gathered their things to leave. 5RP 20-21, 174-75,208, 215. As Pollock and 

Wolfe exited the apartment, Greer was still outside and was angry and 

aggressive. 5RP 22, 95. Pollock again told Greer to leave them alone. 5RP 

23. At that point, Pollock said, '''This is why I don' t deal with the N-word.'" 

5RP 25, 95. As soon as Pollock said that, he was shot. 5RP 25, 95. Pollock 

sustained gunshot wounds to the chest, shoulder, and hand. 5RP 25-26, 28, 

153-55, 161-64. Wolfe had also been shot and had fallen to the ground 

where he was bleeding profusely. 5RP 29-30, 95, 97, 209. Pollock shot his 

gun at the wall and toward the direction of bullets coming at him, but stated 

he "never had a human target in [his] sights." 5RP 28-30; accord 6RP 53 

(defense expert noting that one of the shooters was very close to the wall and 

that bullets hit the wall and ricocheted). 

Greer and his girlfriend, Annaka Lain, told a ditferent story. Greer 

indicated that when he opened the door, Pollock came around the comer and 
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said, '''What's up?,'" and then stepped right in front of Greer, "[t]oe to toe, 

face to face." 2RP 43, 60. Greer testified he never saw Pollock with a 

shotgun, but that Pollock had a handgun. 2RP 44-45. 

According to Greer, Pollock recounted "how he got robbed and shot 

by some other black guys that tried to rob him or something.,,2 2RP 45. 

During this conversation, Lain came outside the apartment and stood next to 

Greer. 2RP 46, 92-93. Greer and Lain testified that Pollock then stated, '''I 

hate fucking niggers, '" and then put his weapon up to Greer's head with his 

right hand. 2RP 46-47, 61-62, 93-94. At that point, Lain began to fire, and a 

gunfight ensued. 2RP 47-48, 93, 95-96. 

Lain and Greer both described the confrontation occurring directly 

outside their apartment. 2RP 46, 53-54, 58-59, 63, 96-97, 111-12. Greer 

said a bullet hit walls and the microwave inside his apartment. 2RP 67. Lain 

also told police that her front door had been kicked open. 2RP 106. 

Following the exchange of gunfire, Pollock indicated a group of 

men, one of whom had a gun, was by the fire door. 5RP 31. Pollock 

believed these men to be Greer's gang. 5RP 31. 

2 Pollock testified about a home invasion during which the suspects attempted to rape his 
girlfriend and "emptied three guns into" him. 5RP 8-9. Pollock also testified he told 
Greer about previously being shot and not "want[ing] to be shot again." 5RP 53-54; see 
also 3RP 67 (neighbor testifYing he heard a male voice say, "'Don't point that gun at 
me. "~). 
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Pollock assisted Wolfe get back to his apartment, noting Wolfe's 

"leg was dang near blown in half." 5RP 35, 100, 108, 178. Pollock then 

walked down the stairs to his truck, and drove himself to the hospital. 5RP 

35-36, 108-09, 178. He crashed through the emergency entrance gate. 3RP 

21,45-46,75-76. The truck was smeared with blood and had a rifle in the 

front seat. 3RP 22, 46, 77-78. Pollock received medical assistance for his 

gunshot wounds. 5RP 36-37. 

Police responded and began processing the scene. They recovered 

various evidence, including firearms, bullet fragments, bullet casings, bullet 

strike evidence, and blood drops along the breezeway. 4RP 65-78, 81-84. 

Police experienced problems with numbering and tagging the evidence at the 

scene. 4RP 89-90. Some of this evidence was never recorded by police 

officers onto their total station, including some blood drops.3 4RP 94-95, 

106, 152-53; 6RP 37-39,40-41,68. Defense expert, Kim Duddy, a former 

employee at the Washington State Patrol crime lab, provided an extensive 

critique of the State's processing of the scene. CP 62-66; 6RP 29, 37-39, 45-

47,68. 

Duddy also discredited Lain's and Greer's testimony. Specifically, 

Duddy indicated that Greer's and Lain's account that the shooting had 

J A "total station" is what law enforcement uses "to mark specific points, whether it be 
items of evidence, marking the placement of a vehicle, a building ... in a scene, and it 
allows you to map the scene." 4RP 56. 
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occurred right outside their apartment and that shots came into their 

apartment was not consistent with any of the evidence. CP 65-66; 6RP 49-

51,83-84. Duddy also stated there was no evidence that Greer's and Lain's 

door had been lcicked in. CP 65; 6RP 50, 54. 

After recuperating, Pollock contacted police and expressed a strong 

desire to tell his side of the story. 1RP 104, 108, 138, 140; 3RP 50-51; 4RP 

21-23. After consulting with prosecutors, detectives conducted a recorded 

interview of Pollock. 1RP 105, 107, 109, 121; 3RP 52-53. Pollock 

acknowledged he had brought firearms, had used a ruse at Greer's apartment 

by knocking and announcing he was the police, and had used a racial slur 

against Greer. 1RP 116-18; 4RP 24-25, 27, 50. Following a CrR 3.5 

hearing, the trial court ruled that Pollock's various statements were 

admissible as evidence against him. lRP 155-57. 

The State charged Pollock with one count of first degree assault 

against Greer. CP 1. The State later amended the information to two counts 

of first degree assault (one each against Greer and Lain). CP 11-12. Both 

counts alleged Pollock committed the acts while being armed with a firearm, 

invoking sentencing enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533(3). CP 11-12. 

Following several continuances, Pollock proceeded to an eight-day 

jury trial, which established the foregoing recitation of facts. 

-7-



· . 

Toward the end of trial, the State proposed a Petrich4 instruction for 

the lesser included second degree assault against Greer. 6RP 6, 8. The State 

indicated, "There has been testimony and a statement from the defendant that 

he initially approached -- he used the word 'charged' [Greer] with his 

shotgun aimed, and then you heard some different testimony about what 

'aimed' means." 6RP 8. The State also said, "You also heard testimony 

from both Annaka Lain and Nigel [Greer] that the defendant pointed his 

revolver at [Greer]'s head." 6RP 8-9. The State proposed the Petrich 

instruction because "[ e ]ither of those two acts ... could be an assault in the 

second-degree." 6RP 9. The trial court used a Petrich instruction to instruct 

the jury on the lesser included second degree assault against Greer. CP 131. 

Pollock accepted this instruction. 6RP 10, 91. 

The State also proposed and the trial court gave the standard 

reasonable doubt instruction, WPIC 4.01 5, which read, in part, "A reasonable 

doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or 

lack of evidence." CP 115; 7RP 100. 

During closing argument, the State asserted Pollock "told you that he 

is guilty of assault in the second-degree -- by charging at [Greer] and forcing 

4 State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), overruled in part on other 
grounds by State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 405-06 & n.l, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). 

5 II WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 

4.0 I, at 85 (3d ed. 2008). 
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him back into his apartment." 6RP 119. The State continued, "The other 

way he is guilty of that count of assault in the second-degree is by pointing 

that gun at [Greer],s head as [Lain] said. That is also an assault in the 

second-degree." 6RP 119. The prosecutor also explained the unanimity 

requirement: 

you have to agree on what act is an assault in the second
degree; was it the pointing of the shotgun? Was it the 
pointing at the head? You all have to agree which one ... it 
is. You don't have to agree both happened, you just have to 
be unanimous as to one happened. 

6RP 120. 

The jury returned verdicts acquitting Pollock of all but the lesser 

included charge of second degree assault as to Greer. CP 101-04; 7RP 11-

15. The jury also returned a special verdict form stating Pollock was armed 

with a firearm at the time of this second degree assault. CP 105; 7RP 12. 

Pollock moved to arrest judgment under CrR 7.4(a)(3), asserting that 

the evidence was insufficient to sustain his conviction. CP 145-53. Pollock 

pointed out that Greer, the alleged victim of the second degree assault, 

testified "he did not see a shotgun or a rifle of any kind in the hand of ... 

Pollock at any time during the events of November 19[], 2010." CP 147. 

Pollock argued, 

If Nigel Greer was unaware that Maurice Pollock had a 
shotgun in his hand, and did not at any point see a shotgun in 
Maurice Pollock's hand, then it would be impossible for 
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Maurice Pollock to have assaulted Nigel Greer by pointing a 
shotgun at him. 

CP 147-48. At oral argument on the motion to arrest, defense counsel also 

raised a corpus delicti argument, asserting that the State presented no 

independent evidence whatsoever that corroborated Pollock's incriminating 

statement about a shotgun. 7RP 23-24,28-29,34-35. 

The trial court denied Pollock's motion to arrest, stating, "We can't 

look at just one or two statements and determine that those are the ones that 

are truthful and that those are the ones that the jury believed." 7RP 36-37; 

CP 154. The trial court determined the jury could have appropriately 

reached its verdict based on the evidence presented. 7RP 36. The trial court 

failed to engage in analysis of the specific act that Pollock indicated was not 

supported by sufficient evidence-that Pollock had lunged at Greer-and 

instead dismissed Pollock's argument as asking "to assess the credibility of 

witnesses and weigh conflicting testimony and assign a different level of 

persuasiveness to the evidence than the jury did, and that's not my role." 

7RP 36. 

The trial court sentenced Pollock to 39 months of incarceration, 

which consisted of a lowest possible standard range sentence of three months 

and a 36-month firearm enhancement under RCW 9.94A.533(3). CP 156, 

158; 7RP 53. Pollock timely appeals. CP 164-65. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

1. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE 
ONE OF THE ACTS THE STATE ARGUED WAS 
SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT, AND DISMISSAL IS THE 
ONLY REMEDY THAT AVOIDS VIOLATING THE 
CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE AGAINST DOUBLE 
JEOPARDY 

The State argued the jury could rely on either of two acts to support 

the lesser included offense of second degree assault against Greer: 

(1) Pollock's alleged lunging at Greer with a shotgun (lunging act) or 

(2) Pollock's pointing a gun directly at Greer's forehead (gun-to-forehead 

act). The State failed, however, to support the lunging act with sufficient 

evidence. Because no rational trier of fact could have found Pollock guilty 

of the lunging act beyond a reasonable doubt, and because we do not know 

with certainty which act the jury relied on, any retrial for second degree 

assault would put Pollock twice in jeopardy for the same offense. To ensure 

the State does not violate Pollock's double jeopardy rights, this court must 

reverse Pollock's conviction and remand for dismissal of this prosecution. 

a. The elements of second degree assault under the law 
of this case 

Jury instructions to which neither party excepts or objects become 

the law of the case and delineate the State's proof requirements. State v. 

Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (citing State v. Hames, 

74 Wn.2d 721, 725,446 P.2d 344 (1968)). Neither the State nor Pollock had 
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any exceptions or objections to the definitional or to-convict instructions 

with regard to second degree assault. 6RP 91. These instructions became 

the law of this case. 

The trial court instructed the jury that an assault could occur in any of 

three ways: 

An assault is an intentional touching or shooting of 
another person, with unlawful force, that is harmful or 
offensive regardless of whether any physical injury is done to 
the person. A touching or shooting is offensive if the 
touching or shooting would offend an ordinary person who is 
not unduly sensitive. 

An assault is also an act, with unlawful force, done 
with intent to inflict bodily injury upon another, tending but 
failing to accomplish it and accompanied with the apparent 
present ability to inflict the bodily injury if not prevented. It 
is not necessary that bodily injury be inflicted. 

An assault is also an act, with unlawful force, done 
with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of 
bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a 
reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury 
even though the act did not actually intend to inflict bodily 
InJury. 

CP 121; 6RP 102-03. The court gave only one definition of second degree 

assault: "A person commits the crime of assault in the second degree when 

he or she assaults another with a deadly weapon." CP 129; 6RP 106. The 

court's instructions stated, "A firearm, whether loaded or unloaded IS a 

deadly weapon." CP 130; 6RP 106. The court also instructed the jury that 

to convict Pollock, it had to find "That on or about the 19th day of 
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November 2010, the defendant assaulted Nigel Greer with a deadly weapon 

.... " CP 133. 

With regard to the second degree assault charge as to Greer, the trial 

court gave a Petrich unanimity instruction: 

As to Count I, the State alleges that the defendant 
committed acts of the lesser included crime of Assault in the 
Second Degree on multiple occasions. To convict the 
defendant on any count of the lesser included crime of 
Assault in the Second Degree as to Count I, one particular act 
of Assault in the Second Degree must be proved beyond a 
reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to 
which act has been proved. You need not unanimously agree 
that the defendant committed all the acts of Assault in the 
Second Degree. 

CP 131; 6RP 106-07. The State argued during closing that two of Pollock's 

acts constituted second degree assault, the lunging act and the gun-to-

forehead act. 6RP 119-20. 

b. There was insufficient evidence to sustain a 
conviction for second degree assault as to the lunging 
act 

Appellate courts review the sufficiency of the evidence by asking 

whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of 

the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt, viewing all evidence in the 

light most favorable to the State. State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 

P .3d 318 (2013). "[I]nferences based on circumstantial evidence must be 

reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." Id. at 16. Such inferences 

must "logically be derived from the facts proved, and should not be the 
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subject of mere surmise or arbitrary assumption." Bailey v. Alabama, 219 

u.s. 219, 232, 31 S. Ct. 145,55 L. Ed. 191 (1911). 

The prosecutor described the alleged lunging act to the jurors in 

closing as: '''[Pollock] charged [Greer] with a shotgun aimed.'" 6RP 121. 

Pollock testified that he charged at Greer holding a shotgun but that he had 

never pointed the gun at Greer. 5RP 18, 52-53. Pollock said when he was 

on the walkway between Wolfe's and Greer's apartments, Greer had a gun 

and "start[ ed] jumping back." 5RP 18. In response, Pollock "pulled the 

blanket off the shotgun with beanbags and I aimed it like this and [Greer] 

had jumped behind a comer." 5RP 18. Pollock also acknowledged during 

cross examination that he told police he '''moved toward [Greer] with the 

shotgun aimed, loaded with beanbags.'" 5RP 53. Pollock reiterated the 

shotgun was "'aimed'" at the ground, never at Greer. 5RP 53. Pollock also 

testified, "Aimed. Readied. It was wrapped in a blanket. It took a second 

for me to unwrap -- get that blanket off of it .... " 5RP 53. This was the full 

extent of evidence adduced at trial regarding the lunging act. 

Indeed, Greer, the supposed victim of this second degree assault, 

testified he never saw a shotgun: 

Q. And was he -- did he have anything in his 
hands? 

A. He had a -- I am sure he had a handgun in his 
hands. 
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Q. Did you see him carrying anything else? 

A. I didn't see nothing else. 

Q. Did you ever see him with a shotgun? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you ever see him with anything wrapped 
-- wrapped up and sort --

A. I heard that -- I heard that story from different 
people from the apartment that he had some 
rifles wrapped in something. I'm not sure 
what it was. 

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection, hearsay, 
Your Honor. 

[COURT): Sustained. 

Q. So what you saw -- when you first came 
around the corner and said, 'What's up,' was 
he pointing a weapon at you at that time? 

A. No. 

2RP 44-45. Greer never described any incident during which Pollock lunged

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