NO. 71254-3-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FILED
Mar 11, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

MAURICE POLLOCK,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JUDGE MARY E. ROBERTS

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JACOB R. BROWN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), modified in part by State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

lesser included crime of Assault in the Second Degree as to Count I, one particular act of Assault in the Second Degree must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved. You need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of Assault in the Second Degree.

CP 131 (Instruction 19); see 6RP 8-9; see also CP 190 (State's Proposed Petrich Instruction).

The trial court further instructed the jury that, in order to convict Pollock of committing second-degree assault against Greer, it would have to find:

- (1) That on or about the 19<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2010, the defendant assaulted Nigel Greer with a deadly weapon; and
- (2) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.CP 133 (Instruction 21).

The trial court also instructed the jury on the three common law definitions of assault, the pertinent one here being as follows:

An assault is also an act, with unlawful force, done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.

CP 121 (Instruction 9); see WPIC 35.50 (defining assault); see also State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 217-18, 883 P.2d 320 (1994) (same).

In closing argument, the prosecutor explained the unanimity requirement, and articulated the two acts relied upon by the State:

Just briefly there is—there are lesser included offenses, and you don't need to deal with those at all if you find the defendant guilty of assault in the first-degree as charged in counts one and two. That is what he is guilty of.

However, if for some reason you believe everything will work [sic] that the defendant has told you, part of what he has told you is that he charged at Nigel Greer with a shot gun pointed—loaded, obviously—and basically chased him back into his apartment.

So if you want to believe everything the defendant said, he's just told you that he is guilty of assault in the second-degree—by charging at Nigel [Greer] and forcing him back into his apartment.

If you get to that count, he is certainly guilty of that count.

The other way he is guilty of that count of assault in the second-degree is by pointing that gun at [Greer's] head as Annaka [Lain] said. That is also an assault in the second-degree.

 $[\ldots]$ 

That is the instruction number 19. It talks about multiple acts of assault in the second-degree. Again you may not get to assault in the second-degree because there's plenty of evidence that he is guilty of assault in the first-degree, but if you do, you have to agree on what act is an assault in the second-degree; was it the pointing of the shotgun? Was it the pointing at the head?

You all have to agree which one—which one it is. You don't have to agree both happened, you just have to be unanimous as to one happened.

6RP 118-20.

#### c. Standard Of Review.

Evidence is sufficient to support a criminal conviction if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational fact trier could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068

(1992). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence, as well as all reasonable inferences from the evidence, which must be drawn in favor of the State and against the defendant. <u>Id.</u> An appellate court defers to the trier of fact on all "issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence." <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), <u>abrogated in part on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).

# d. The Evidence Was Sufficient To Prove That Pollock Assaulted Greer By Moving Toward And Confronting Him With A Shotgun.

As noted, Pollock concedes that the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable jury to find that he committed one of the acts constituting second-degree assault alleged by the State—that he pointed a handgun at Greer's head. Br. of Appellant, at 2, 21. He argues only that no reasonable jury could have found that he committed the other act alleged by the State, that he assaulted Greer by moving toward and confronting him with a shotgun. His claim rests on the fact that Greer denied seeing the shotgun. Pollock's argument should be rejected because the jury was not required to accept this part of Greer's testimony. In other words,

Pollock misapplies the standard of review for a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence.

The evidence at trial was sufficient for a reasonable jury to find that Pollock assaulted Greer by unlawfully placing him in reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury, when he confronted Greer with a shotgun. Wolfe and Lain both testified that Pollock was carrying a shotgun or rifle wrapped in either a blanket or shirt. Pollock, himself, told police that he unwrapped the shotgun and aimed it at Greer. He added that Greer leapt back behind the alcove and told Pollock not to pull the gun on him.

While Greer denied seeing the shotgun, his testimony on this point is not dispositive. It is the exclusive province of the jury to weigh conflicting testimony and to determine the credibility of witnesses.

Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 874-75. Having heard testimony that Greer was a convicted felon, and therefore prohibited from possessing a firearm, the jury reasonably could have concluded that Greer denied seeing the shotgun in order to distance himself from any possibility of having retrieved his own firearm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pollock attempted to clarify on the stand that the shotgun was "aimed" but was not "pointed" at Greer. 5RP 52-53. But it was irrelevant whether the shotgun was actually pointed at Greer—the only question is whether the evidence was sufficient to place Greer in reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury. No authority requires that a gun actually be pointed at a victim in order to place the victim in such apprehension.

Here, Pollock claimed that, after he aimed the shotgun at Greer, he went back to Wolfe's apartment. 5RP 18. Later, when he and Wolfe tried to leave, they were confronted by an armed Greer in the hallway. 5RP 22-23. Because he was a convicted felon, Greer had an incentive to claim a different sequence of events—that Pollock simply pulled a handgun on him at point-blank range in the alcove, and that the shooting broke out immediately thereafter. 2RP 43-49. With all three other eyewitnesses testifying to Pollock holding the shotgun (including Pollock, himself, who admitted to "charging" Greer with it), and there being no plausible explanation for how Greer could have missed seeing a shotgun in the arms of his assailant, it was reasonable for the jury to conclude that Greer *did* see the shotgun and simply lied about it for some ulterior motive.

The jury also reasonably could have concluded that Greer was misremembering the details of a stressful event that occurred several years previously. The date of the shooting in this case was November 19, 2010. 2RP 32, 82; 5RP 13, 79. Greer did not testify at trial until nearly three years later, on September 11, 2013. 2RP 26. In recounting the events of the shooting, Greer's fiancée broke down in tears and added that it happened "so long ago." 2RP 95, 116. The jury could have concluded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This does not mean, however, that the jury was bound to disbelieve all of Greer's testimony; the jury was entitled to find Greer an unreliable witness in some ways and a reliable witness in others.

that Greer's testimony was similarly influenced by stress and the passage of time.

Ultimately, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be construed in favor of the jury's verdict. State v. Curtiss, 161 Wn. App. 673, 695, 250 P.3d 496 (2011). While the testimony in this case certainly conflicts on several points, it was the precise role of the jury to resolve those conflicts and to determine which explanation was persuasive. The jury did so and found Pollock guilty of second-degree assault. Because the evidence supports a conviction for that crime, both for pointing a shotgun at Greer and for putting a handgun to his head, Pollock's conviction should be affirmed.

Finally, as part of his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, Pollock also argues that the State adduced insufficient corroborating evidence to satisfy the *corpus delicti* doctrine. Br. of Appellant at 18-20. This Court should decline to consider Pollock's *corpus delicti* argument because he failed to preserve it with a timely objection and because he fails to assign error on this basis, on appeal. Even if considered on the merits, Pollock's *corpus delicti* argument should be rejected because the State adduced ample evidence to corroborate his confessions.

"The *corpus delicti* rule is a judicially created rule of evidence, not a constitutional sufficiency of the evidence requirement, and a defendant

must make proper objection to the trial court to preserve the issue." State v. Dodgen, 81 Wn. App. 487, 492, 915 P.2d 531 (1996) (citing State v. C.D.W., 76 Wn. App. 761, 763-64, 887 P.2d 911 (1995)). Here,

the failure to object precludes appellate review because [i]t may well be that proof of the *corpus delicti* was available and at hand during the trial, but that in the absence of [a] specific objection calling for such proof it was omitted.

<u>C.D.W.</u>, 76 Wn. App. at 763-64 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (alterations original)).

Pollock did not raise his *corpus delicti* challenge until after the verdict was returned. 7RP 23-29. This untimely objection was not sufficient to preserve appellate review. See State v. Kendrick, 47 Wn. App. 620, 636, 736 P.2d 1079 (1987) ("By the failure to object at a point that will give the trial judge an opportunity to correct an alleged error, counsel waives the right to predicate an appeal thereon. Raising the issue in a motion for a new trial does not provide the trial court with the requisite opportunity to correct error." (internal citations omitted)); RAP 2.5(a). Thus, Pollock failed to preserve any claim relating to the *corpus delicti* doctrine.

Even if Pollock preserved the issue for appeal, he has failed to raise it properly in this Court. The error stems from Pollock's misapplication of the doctrine. As noted, the *corpus delicti* rule is a

judicially created rule of evidence, not a sufficiency of the evidence requirement. Dodgen, 81 Wn. App. at 492; see also C.D.W., 76 Wn. App. at 763. In other words, it governs whether a defendant's confession is admissible in the first place—not whether the evidence is sufficient to convict. See C.D.W., 76 Wn. App. at 763 (noting that the *corpus delicti* rule requires "proper foundation to be laid before a confession is admitted"); see also State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 327-41, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (considering the sufficiency of the evidence separately from whether defendants' confessions were properly admitted under the *corpus delicti* rule). Pollock does not assign error on appeal to the admission of his confessions under the *corpus delicti* rule. Br. of Appellant at 1-2. His claim should be rejected.

Finally, even assuming for the sake of argument that Pollock both preserved this claim and properly raised it, his argument is unavailing because the State adduced ample corroborating evidence to allow the admission of his confessions. The *corpus delicti* rule requires that "the body of the crime" be established before the defendant's admissions may be considered. State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 655-56, 927 P.2d 210 (1996). Some independent, corroborating evidence of the crime is required for the defendant's statements to be admissible. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d at 327-28.

The corroboration requirement demands only *prima facie* evidence. Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 656. This standard is satisfied when the State offers "evidence of sufficient circumstances which would support a logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." <u>Id.</u> (internal quotation marks omitted). Direct and circumstantial evidence both may be considered. <u>Id.</u> at 655.

Here, Wolfe and Lain both testified that Pollock was holding a shotgun or rifle, wrapped in a blanket or shirt when he confronted Greer. 2RP 87-88, 90; 5RP 132. Police searched Wolfe's apartment after the shooting and found a shotgun, next to a blanket. 4RP 129-30; Exhibit 18. This evidence is sufficient to support a logical and reasonable inference that Pollock assaulted Greer with a shotgun. The *corpus delicti* doctrine was satisfied, so Pollock's incriminating statements were admissible. Based on his admissions, and the other evidence at trial, the evidence was sufficient to support Pollock's conviction. Pollock's conviction should be affirmed.

# 2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE MEANING OF REASONABLE DOUBT.

Pollock asserts that his right to due process was violated when the trial court instructed the jury on an incorrect definition of reasonable

doubt. He claims that WPIC 4.01, the pattern instruction issued in this case, misstates the burden of proof by defining a reasonable doubt as "one for which a reason exists[.]" WPIC 4.01 (emphasis added); see CP 115 (Instruction 3) ("A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence."). Pollock's claim should be rejected. He expressly endorsed this instruction, thereby inviting any error, and is precluded from making this claim on appeal. On the merits, the instruction properly informed the jury of the applicable law.

#### a. Additional Facts.

In a hearing outside the presence of the jury, during the State's case-in-chief, the parties litigated jury instructions before the trial court. Pollock's trial attorney stated that the defense would "endorse all of the other instructions from the state with the exception of the initial aggressor instruction of course." 3RP 113. The trial court asked, "Just to be clear again, Mr. Tavel, so the defense is endorsing all of the state's instructions but for the initial aggressor one?" 3RP 113. Pollock's attorney replied, "Correct." 3RP 113.

The State's proposed instructions included WPIC 4.01. CP 172.

This instruction provided that:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of each crime charged. The State is the

plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of each crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 172 (citing WPIC 4.01) (emphasis added).

After each side rested, the trial court again inquired of the parties regarding jury instructions. Pollock's trial attorney again indicated that he was objecting only to the initial aggressor instruction. 6RP 91. Pollock also submitted his own instructions, in which he indicated an objection to the State's proposed initial aggressor instruction and an instruction relating to a defendant testifying, but expressly stated that, "The defense endorse[s] the other Jury Instructions as presented by the State." CP 96.

The trial court then instructed the jury with WPIC 4.01, identical to the proposed instruction set forth above, informing the jury that a reasonable doubt is "one for which a reason exists[.]" CP 115 (Instruction 3); 6RP 100.

# b. Pollock Joined In Proposing The WPIC 4.01 Reasonable Doubt Instruction And Thus Invited Any Error.

Under the invited error doctrine, an appellate court will not review a claimed error if it was invited by the appealing party. State v. Sykes,

\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_, 339 P.3d 972, 981 (Dec. 18, 2014) (citing State v.

Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870, 792 P.2d 514 (1990)). This doctrine "prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal." Id. (quoting Henderson, 114 Wn.2d at 870). Even where constitutional rights are concerned, invited error precludes appellate review. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d at 871. A party may not request a jury instruction and later complain on appeal that the instruction was given.

State v. Boyer, 91 Wn.2d 342, 345, 588 P.2d 1151 (1979).

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